

# Maximising universities' civic contribution

## A policy paper

John Goddard, Ellen Hazelkorn with Stevie Upton and Tom Boland November 2018

## **Our Mission**

The Wales Centre for Public Policy was established in October 2017. Its mission is to improve policy making and public services by supporting ministers and public services to access rigorous independent evidence about what works.

The Centre collaborates with leading researchers and other policy experts to synthesise and mobilise existing evidence and identify gaps where there is a need to generate new knowledge.

The Centre is independent of government but works closely with policy makers and practitioners to develop fresh thinking about how to address strategic challenges in health and social care, education, housing, the economy and other devolved responsibilities. It:

- Supports Welsh Government Ministers to identify, access and use authoritative evidence and independent expertise that can help inform and improve policy;
- Works with public services to access, generate, evaluate and apply evidence about what works in addressing key economic and societal challenges; and
- Draws on its work with Ministers and public services, to advance understanding of how evidence can inform and improve policy making and public services and contribute to theories of policy making and implementation.

Through secondments, PhD placements and its Research Apprenticeship programme, the Centre also helps to build capacity among researchers to engage in policy relevant research which has impact.

For further information please visit our website at www.wcpp.org.uk

#### **Core Funders**



**Cardiff University** was founded in 1883. Located in a thriving capital city, Cardiff is an ambitious and innovative university, which is intent on building strong international relationships while demonstrating its commitment to Wales.



**Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC)** is part of UK Research and Innovation, a new organisation that brings together the UK's seven research councils, Innovate UK and Research England to maximise the contribution of each council and create the best environment for research and innovation to flourish.



Welsh Government

**Welsh Government** is the devolved government of Wales, responsible for key areas of public life, including health, education, local government, and the environment.

## Contents

Summary	5
Introduction	6
Debates around civic mission	7
The Changing Policy Landscape	7
University Civic Mission	9
Anchor Institutions and Regional Development	9
Equality of Access	10
Public Trust	11
Global Context and Policy Choices	13
Macro Trends	13
Globalisation and Massification	13
Recent Policy Developments	14
International initiatives and policy choices	16
International Examples	17
The UK Context	20
The Civic University and Civic Engagement	20
Civic Engagement, Devolution, Industrial Policy and Austerity	22
Civic Engagement and the Higher Education Market	24
The Welsh Context	25
Welsh Higher Education Policy	26
Civic Engagement in Place	29
Policy Recommendations	32
Recommendation 1: Develop a strategic vision for the post-compulsory educed and training system	u <mark>cation</mark> 32

	Recommendation 2: Use institutional compacts as a vehicle to promote civic engagement	33
	Recommendation 3: Develop regional clusters of institutions as key enablers of regional development	34
	Recommendation 4: Strengthen links within the PCET system and across the education system as a whole	35
	Recommendation 5: Use civic engagement as an instrument to promote equity access to higher education	of 35
	Recommendation 6: Provide "seed" funding	37
Conclusion		37
Reference	ces	39
Author Details		45
Abbreviations		46

## Summary

- Civic engagement is widely used but often lacks a common understanding. This report provides clarity and context for civic mission in Welsh higher education.
- The concept of "the public good" underpins Welsh public policy; actions to strengthen universities' civic mission builds upon that commitment.
- Universities' potential for civic engagement in Wales is shaped by several factors: institutional origin and subsequent development, the Welsh, and UK, higher education policy context and the globalisation of higher education and the economy at large.
- Within Wales, the *Wellbeing of Future Generations Act* has an important role to play in shaping civic engagement although universities are not specifically name-checked within the scope of the Act.
- Whilst supporting a healthy balance between institutional autonomy and public accountability, there is a role for government steering public institutions, including universities, in order to meet the needs of Welsh society.
- Civic engagement is difficult to measure because of the absence of agreed definitions, and clarity around the most appropriate and meaningful indicators which can capture the contribution of universities to the public good.

- International experience provides examples of how to encourage civic engagement including national strategic frameworks, performancebased or targeted funding, institutional compacts and other incentive arrangements.
- Six recommendations are made:
  - Adopting a strategic vision for the PCET sector in Wales;
  - Including civic engagement as a formal aspect of universities' performance;
  - Developing regional clusters of institutions as a means of strengthening place-based planning and decision-making between higher education and other parts of Welsh society and economy;
  - Incentivising collaboration between universities and other parts of the post-compulsory education sector;
  - Embedding and widening access and life-long-learning, including adult education, as intrinsic characteristics and responsibilities of civic mission;
  - Providing engagement funding for universities contingent on collaboration and alignment with Welsh national and regional priorities.

## Introduction

Down the ages, universities have served humanity well. They have acted as the cradle of knowledge, the fount of innovation and creativity, and the bulwark of civilisation. Today they stand at the centre of our societies, supporting people to achieve their personal development goals, providing the basis for a society rich in culture and social capital and providing the skills needed to serve our economies and maintain and enhance our living standards. It is because of that central role that universities are being asked to do more: to stretch beyond the traditions of teaching, research and scholarship, and to reach out beyond their walls, real or metaphorical, and connect with their communities and regions in ways that are novel, challenging and impactful.

In this paper, we understand universities' civic mission as their commitment to bettering the local and regional communities of which they are part. A civic mission is an acknowledgement that universities have an obligation to act in this way, and civic engagement is the process by which this is achieved. Civic engagement is not a new concept for higher education. Yet it is still a poorly understood one.

The broad concept of "engagement" can embrace "regional", "civic" or "community" engagement as well as "student engagement" through their active participation in learning (McCormick, Kinzie, & Gonyea, 2013). While students are key stakeholders in higher education, the former term refers to how universities as institutions interrelate with the society (Hazelkorn, 2016a, p. 44). Engagement with wider society has gained increasingly in significance in recent years. However, it is often treated as a separate activity, commonly referred to as the "third mission" after teaching and research. In this way, it is inferred that civic engagement is by definition an inferior mission rather than embedded holistically in the full-range of a university's roles and responsibilities (Goddard, 2009).

This tendency to compartmentalise civic engagement is problematic. How activities are categorised – and most importantly whether or not they are directly tied to incentive structures – has a clear effect on whether or not they are viewed as a priority. Given the nature of the grand challenges faced by society, and the need for coordinated

**OGL** This report is licensed under the terms of the Open Government License

Wales Centre for Public Policy Canolfan Polisi Cyhoeddus Cymru



action to address them, there is a strong case for an overarching understanding of universities' outward-facing activity as a single spectrum encompassing all activities from teaching and learning to research, and technology transfer to community and regional engagement. In other words, engagement should be understood as the horizontal activity linking and integrating these different activities rather than each operating in their own silo (Hazelkorn, 2016b, p. 73).

In this paper we draw on a wealth of experience and expertise across research, national and international policy making and higher education management. The paper explores the challenges and opportunities for enhancing the civic mission of Welsh universities and the Welsh post-compulsory education system more broadly. It is written as a provocation to policymakers, to universities, and to Welsh society and we set out six policy recommendations specific to the Welsh context.

## **Debates around civic mission**

## The Changing Policy Landscape

The demands on, and expectations of, colleges and universities are changing the relationship between them and governments almost everywhere. A number of issues come to the fore, most notably concerns about student performance, learning outcomes and employment opportunities; and the contribution of education and research, and its value and impact, for national and local objectives. In recent years, the concept of the "public good" has been a significant feature of these discussions, including the discourse around "we have a university in our city and region but what is it doing for us?" There are three inter-related issues:

- *Public attitudes* towards public services including education, vis-à-vis the quality of the service and the level of public funding required, etc.;
- Degree of *public trus*t between different sectors of society; and
- *Public interest* in effective and efficient use of public resources, and the contribution and value to society.



Balancing the role and responsibilities of institutions and those of government can create tensions between institutional autonomy and public accountability: for example, for increasing widening participation and successful completion; for graduates ready to enter the labour market; for excellent research judged on scientific grounds and contributing to city and regional development in a holistic way by combining teaching and research-based activities. These tensions can be further exacerbated if/when institutions find themselves trying to navigate across different government departments with different policy demands and time horizons.

For Wales, devolution adds an additional level of complexity. In contrast to the more market-oriented system in England, Wales has prioritised "public good" responsibilities in its desire to shape a society and education system with distinct societal aspirations. Governance, regulation, quality assurance and performance review in Wales are overseen and monitored by a myriad of organizations, some of which are Welsh-based, while others operate within the broader English or UK post-compulsory system. The core architecture currently comprises the Welsh Government, HEFCW and ESTYN although this structure will change once the new Tertiary Education and Research Commission for Wales (TERCW) is initiated. Furthermore, within the broader UK-context, Wales liaises regularly with counterparts in Scotland, Northern Ireland and England. Changes made in those jurisdictions have implications for Wales, regardless of whether they are implemented in Wales or not.

The *Well-being of Future Generations Act* has the potential to tie all of these strands together. This innovative legislation provides for the delivery of seven core national well-being goals – a Wales that is prosperous, resilient, healthier, more equal, composed of cohesive communities with a vibrant culture and Welsh language that is globally responsible. The objective is to improve the social, economic, environmental and cultural wellbeing of the people of Wales. Formally, addressing the goals is a statutory requirement for national government, local government, local health boards and other specified public bodies.

While not name-checked amongst this group, universities should be front and central to delivering on these goals. They have much of the required expertise and research capacity and can influence present and future generations of students through their teaching of skills such as leadership, collaborative working, communication and critical thinking. It is they who can provide examples of ethical leadership, and it is they who have the scope for deeper and broader engagement with the communities in which they are embedded. Universities have the opportunity to embrace the Act's messages, making civic mission central to their vision and mission; informing their strategies, actions and relationships; embedded in the way in which they are led, managed and organised (Goddard et al., 2016).

## University Civic Mission

This section provides an introduction to some of the main issues which underpin discussions regarding universities' civic mission, namely regional development and, universities as place-based anchor institutions, equality of access, and issues of public trust of public institutions.

#### **Anchor Institutions and Regional Development**

A commonly referenced demonstration of civic engagement is the role universities play in regional development, a role that has been growing steadily in recent times. In drawing up policies for economic growth, many governments focus on regions, deploying strategies to encourage the rapid spread of knowledge and skills within a specific geographic area smaller than a country. The objective has been to generate a local innovation environment that can contribute to the competitiveness of established business and foster new industries and services, form part of a national and global innovation system with local socially beneficial spin-offs, and provide the basis for successful careers and lives.

The "triple helix" model of innovation, in which higher education, government and business collaborate, has been considered critical to economic development. However, it is now recognised that this model may not be the most effective approach. This is because the focus of university activity has been almost exclusively placed on working with business to maximise institutional income (Leydesdorff & Etzkowitz, 2001). Today, it is widely recognised that a "quadruple helix" model is needed. This model involves citizens and civil society organisations acting as both consumers and co-producers of knowledge, working alongside higher education, business and government in a highly collaborative, iterative and co-ordinated way to build placebased innovation ecosystems (Carayannis et al., 2012; Carayannis & Campbell, 2012). The "quadruple helix" can better attract, develop and retain human capital so people have the requisite knowledge and skills needed for communities to address societal grand challenges, such as environmental sustainability and social exclusion, which have both a global and local dimension (Goldsmith, 2018).

As demonstrated later in this paper, Wales and its constituent local communities experience some difficulties in retaining and attracting graduates from its universities. In this context the university, given its multiple strengths, can act as an "anchor institution". Working with local employers, it can address the demand for graduates with the requisite skills, provide professional training, support knowledge exchange



and technological and organisational innovation. It is a de facto major employer recruiting locally as well as globally; it is a purchaser of goods and services; it is a contributor and provider of cultural activity; it is a source of advice to the community and as a 'place-maker' can act as a global gateway for marketing and attracting investment and mobile talent to the area, tying down the global in the local. In these ways higher education and regions mutually benefit from close interaction, identifying challenges and co-producing solutions. Such civic engagement can provide a significant and essential base of public and political support for higher education.

#### **Equality of Access**

Universities have played a key part in broadening access to, and participation in, higher education. Whereas just 3.4% of young people attended university in the UK in 1950; participation rates today are closer to 49% (Department for Education, 2016). The challenge is to reach out to people and communities, who may be the first-in-their-family to consider higher education or who are so deeply alienated from society that attendance at university, or in many cases even completing second level education, is either not at all within their reckoning or seems so remote a prospect to them as to be incredible. Despite decades of initiatives, research continues to show how socio-economic characteristics, rather than merit, track students through the education system and into the labour market and in the process reinforce regional disparities (Crawford et al., 2016).

As we enter the 4<sup>th</sup> industrial revolution, advanced economies, such as Wales, will require a greater proportion of graduates while opportunities for those with low level skills will decline. Demand for people with high skills is now commonplace but there are also shortages in key areas of economic activity giving rise to the somewhat hyperbolic term "a global war for talent". In all these countries too, there are deep reservoirs of talent that are yet untapped. These can coincide with deep reservoirs of economic and social disadvantage.

And as people live longer, change jobs and careers more frequently – or may no longer be in the labour market due to changes in the world of work – there is a need for ongoing educational opportunities for adults needing and wanting to retrain and/or refresh their skills and knowledge or participate in other types of learning.

Universities have a social responsibility to find ways through to such communities and individuals to develop strategies and pathways by and through which people of all abilities, ages, ethnicities and talents can be guided through the education system to



reach their full potential and contribute their skills, energies and commitment to wider society throughout their lives. New approaches are required, involving a deeper engagement with these communities experiencing socio-economic deprivation and people wanting to refresh their skills to, in the first place, make closer connections and then to support individuals towards achieving their potential. Universities are grappling with these challenges, but success is limited. Too often they have acted as gatekeepers – inappropriately pursuing higher rankings and global prestige in isolation from the society in which they are based (Hazelkorn, 2015).

#### **Public Trust**

Many people feel marginalised from the benefits of a more globalised world due to a combination of factors including uneven economic growth, unequal access to societal public goods and opportunities, and growing disparities in social-cultural values (Inglehart & Norris, 2016). Many of the presumed certainties of life – such as the belief that each generation would be better off than the previous (Brown, Lauder, & Ashton, 2011) – are being challenged, provoking growing disenchantment with public institutions, with implications for universities (Algan, Guriev, Papaioannou, & Passari, 2017; Förster, Nozal, & Thévenot, 2017).

A recent survey by Edelman Intelligence shows Europe and the US facing a "collapse in trust in institutions" (government, media, business and NGOs) (Ries, Bersoff, Armstrong, Adkins, & Bruening, 2018), with variances according to social class and geography. Another survey by the Research Council of Norway reports almost 40% of the public think research simply reflects researchers' own views (Myklebust, 2018), while a recent Gallup survey finds a significant decline in trust in American higher education since 2015 (Gallup, 2018). While universities continue to command greater support than other public institutions (Skinner & Clemence, 2017), the general trend is worrisome. It reflects, at best, a significant level of public indifference about higher education, suggesting the public is uninformed about higher education's many functions and contributions (HEFCE, 2010; UPP Foundation, 2018, p. 5; Boland & Hazelkorn, 2018).

Further challenges to our societies are presented by climate change and unsustainable development. But, too often pursuit of global reputation and status has come at the expense of social responsibilities. Universities can be both part of the problem of globalisation as well as contribute to its solutions. As the Education Secretary, Kirsty William, has said, "...it is incumbent on universities to reflect on the distance between



campus and community exposed by the [Brexit] referendum. The urgency of now is to recapture a civic mission" (Williams, 2016).

Today's complex problems require holistic engagement between higher education and society, putting knowledge in service to society through teaching and learning, scholarship and research, collaboration, outreach and communication. Exercising its civic responsibility, the university can make a difference by leveraging its research capacity, its teaching of ethical behaviour and its advocacy for the Sustainable Development Goals of the United Nations many of which have a local as well as global dimensions.

As Calhoun argues, public support for universities is only given and maintained according to their capacity, capability and willingness to "educate citizens in general, to share knowledge, to distribute it as widely as possible in accord with publicly articulated purposes" (Calhoun, 2006, p. 19). Too often, academics "treat ... opportunities to do research not as a public trust but as a reward for success in past studies" (Calhoun, 2006, p. 31).

Higher education therefore needs to engage proactively and energetically with the communities in which it lives, and to first stem, and then reverse, the erosion of public trust in public institutions and the academy itself. In an age when so much that passes as information, but can all too often be misinformation, the university has a civic duty to instil in its students' key attributes of curiosity, a respect for knowledge and a capacity for analysis, and constructive scepticism and questioning about what is presented as information as well as a willingness to listen to, and appreciate, a range of viewpoints. Universities should proactively engage with local communities, building more and stronger coalitions of support. They need to harness the power of social media to promote values of ethical behaviour, tolerance and inclusivity and take those arguments into the public arena and to those who feel marginalised and dispossessed and the communities where they live.

# Global Context and Policy Choices

In this section we explore international policy trends. It concludes with a short summary of six countries – Finland, Hong Kong, Ireland, the Netherlands, New Zealand and Norway – chosen because they are comparable to Wales in terms of population size, political systems, and aspirations for linking higher education with social and economic development.

### **Macro Trends**

#### **Globalisation and Massification**

Over the past thirty years or so, education and training systems have been transformed around the world. Several factors are driving this change. Globalisation has accelerated the pace of trade integration and competition between nations and world regions. The world economic balance is shifting, with emerging economies, particularly those in Asia, becoming major global players. Technology is also a significant factor; its disruptive influence is having a transformative effect on people's patterns of life and work. These changes are affecting the way in which people think and identify themselves and perceive and pursue their interests.

Our cities and regions are also being shaped by these exceptional demographic, cultural and technological changes. Today 83% of people in the UK live in towns and cities (Defra, 2016). No longer simply part of national systems, cities play an increasingly strategic role internationally, attracting mobile business and capital as well as students and professionals. The inflow of highly skilled migrants has become necessary in order to offset changes in the shape and size of the population and labour force. Multi-culturalism and cultural diversity are changing the social, cultural, ethnic and religious diversity of our societies.

These trends are both a cause and effect of the massification of post-compulsory education and training systems. Participation and enrolment in higher education has expanded considerably over the past century, and particularly since 1970. The number of students is forecast to rise from 4% of the world's population (aged 15-79 year old) in 2012 to about 10% by 2040 (Calderon, 2018, p. 187). This growth is driven by



evidence of the benefits of possessing high level skills and how having a high proportion of such people in a country benefits that country socially and economically, from higher participation in democratic structures to better individual health.

The benefits of massification, although spread widely, are not universal. We have allowed globalization to be accompanied by an unequal distribution of societal goods. As systems expand and more people participate in higher education, there is a tendency for colleges and universities to become both more differentiated and more hierarchically organized, paralleling the hierarchy of cities and regions. Thus, many people believe that globalisation itself has been the cause of society's problems. A more obvious culprit is to be found in the failure of public policy, and the education and training system itself, to recognise to recognise the dangers of globalisation and to respond adequately to the negative impact of what is otherwise positive for the majority of people.

These developments, combined with the challenges of people living and working longer, reinforce the importance of higher education's role in talent maximisation and knowledge production and sharing. The discourse around the globe takes slightly different forms in different countries, but essentially questions are being asked everywhere about the degree of transparency and accountability around student learning outcomes, graduate attributes and life-sustaining skills, the societal relevance of research and benefit that institutions bring to their communities and regions. *Towards a Socially Responsible University: Balancing the Global with the Local*, from the UN-sponsored Global University Network for Innovation (GUNI), points out that universities can be both part of the problem of globalisation through contributions to sustainable development and inclusive growth (Grau et.al, 2017).

#### **Recent Policy Developments**

Recent decades have seen many governments adopt a range of policy instruments to help steer the education system. Since the 1990s, there has been a shift away from top-down approaches towards a combination of market-led and competitive mechanisms as the preferred way to regulate higher education systems, with government adopting a "steering-from-a-distance" approach (Dill, 1998, p. 362). Concerns about the limitations of autonomy and decentralisation in other domains, such as banking and financial services, alongside recognition of the importance education plays within the body politic, has more recently propelled a noticeable move



in favour of new forms of accountability and co-ordination (Jongbloed, Kaiser, Vught, & Westerheijden, 2018, p. 672).

Today, public value management is becoming the norm across a wide range of public services This puts the achievement of public value at the core of collective decision-making. Engagement with a wide range of societal stakeholders and active participants helping "steer [...] networks of deliberation and delivery and maintain the overall health of the system" are seen as vital (Stoker, 2006, p. 49). While there are historic differences between centralist and devolved governance systems, in general governments are aiming to better align the responsibilities of public institutions more directly to the needs of society.

To that end, governments have adopted various mechanisms, such as national strategies, performance-based or targeted funding, institutional compacts and other incentive arrangements, to drive change, efficiency and public benefit in public services and in this regard higher education is no exception. The strategic dialogue or compact process upholds principles of institutional autonomy, and usually requires each institution to submit its own performance goals as part of a "negotiation" with government.

The essential features of this approach involve the government setting out the national objectives for the higher education system and the indicators of success. Each university is required to identify, in a draft compact, which of the national objectives it proposes to address. This will depend on their current strengths. The university's draft compact will also set out the metrics against which the university proposes their performance be measured. The objective is to have a well-co-ordinated system of universities, each playing to their strengths, but combined, addressing national needs. The draft compact becomes a subject for discussion and negotiation with government or an appropriate state agency - a process often described as "strategic dialogue", emphasising the extent to which the autonomy of the university is accommodated in the process. Typically, compacts span a three-year period during which, on an annual basis, performance is assessed in a follow-up strategic dialogue and funding decisions made. The funding approach differs in different jurisdictions from there being a fund of extra resources to be allocated according to performance to a situation where a percentage (usually not more than 10%) is at hazard if agreed performance targets are not met.

## International initiatives and policy choices

Internationally, engagement between universities and society and the economy is a significant political, policy and strategic issue, with many initiatives. At the supranational level, the OECD, focusing on the regional impact of providers, led an influential project exploring the relationship between higher education and its regions, and the drivers and barriers for engagement (OECD, 2007). This was based on a methodology of self-evaluation by universities and their partners followed by a developmental peer review. The EU has been particularly active in this area, producing a guide for regional authorities on *Connecting Universities to Regional Growth* (Goddard, 2011), and subsequent guides for universities and their partners on higher education and smart specialisation (Kempton, Goddard, Edwards, Hegyi, & Elena-Pérez, 2013). The lessons from these initiatives are now being transferred to the vocational education and training system because of the recognised importance of human capital.

In response to the growing need for international comparability and concern around greater transparency, there has been a growing usage of indicators and rankings. While problematic because of the use of proxies and controversial measures, they are nonetheless pervasive and are increasingly being used to assess, measure and compare civic engagement. Beginning in 2005, U-MAP, an institutional profiling instrument, included categories of knowledge exchange and regional engagement within its five dimensions. This methodology was applied to the EU-sponsored U-Multirank, which includes the number of students from, and graduates employed in, the immediate vicinity or region, the importance of local/regional income sources, the level of cultural activities, and income from "knowledge exchange" activities (e.g. licences, continuing professional development and start-up companies (van Vught and Ziegele, 2012). E3M identified ninety-five possible indicators under three different categories of engagement: continuing education, technology transfer and innovation, and social engagement. The OECD and EU have jointly promoted HE Innovate, a self-assessment tool for HEIs which wish to explore their innovative potential.

Global rankings have also begun to focus on engagement indicators with limited success. This is due to the absence of a common definition of engagement and an internationally comparable set of meaningful indicators (Hazelkorn, 2015; Benneworth & Zeeman, 2018).

In summary, national governments have also been busy promoting greater societal and economic benefit from closer engagement between education institutions and their communities/regions. As governments have extracted themselves from direct control, ownership and/or management of (public) services, they have stepped up their steering role, promoting greater accountability through closer alignment between the



education system and institutions, and societal and national objectives, and measurement of outcomes.

#### **International Examples**

The following international examples illustrate these trends; the six benchmarked jurisdictions have similarities with Wales. There is also likeness with respect to the focus on economic and labour market activation initiatives and the policy levers adopted. Policy instruments employed by these countries include: national frameworks and priority-setting, performance indicators and/or other funding instruments, entrepreneurship education and work-based learning, research evaluation criteria aligned with national priorities, stakeholder appointments to governing or appointment boards, and regional councils.

**Finland** is a highly industrialised economy with high levels of per capita GDP but also with one of the greatest regional disparities in the OECD; economic inequalities and population aging have emerged as key policy concerns (OECD, 2014). The goal is to use the resources of science and research in a more efficient and effective way and contribute to sustainable regional growth. The performance funding model includes indicators related to meeting national and strategic objectives and encouraging co-operation. In order to boost regional engagement, competitiveness of regions as well as the quality and effectiveness of education and research and innovation, HEIs are urged to collaborate more actively with their local counterparts (Ministry of Education and Culture, 2016). This includes the formation of multi-campus university consortia, bringing together higher education institutions, municipalities and regional councils (University Consortia, 2013).

**Hong Kong**'s economic base is quite narrow and is principally dependent on a large and highly successful finance sector. Higher education in Hong Kong SAR includes all forms of postsecondary education. Since 2017, the Hong Kong government has made fostering collaboration with industry a top priority albeit different initiatives have been in train for the past decade. These include an earmarked annual fund for universities to build appropriate back-office infrastructure. Hong Kong's research assessment process takes impact seriously, and particularly values industrial or commercial sponsorship. Theme-based research grants require collaboration between several universities, and preferably with industrial partners.

Ireland has had a performance framework system since 2014 having been recommended by the National Strategy for Higher Education to 2030 (Higher



Education Strategy Group, 2010). The objective is to improve institutional performance through the development of a more formal process of establishing goals and associated metrics of performance, and to hold institutions to account against national overarching performance goals defined by the *Higher Education System Performance Framework* (DES, 2014, 2018b). A key component of the process, also strengthened by the *Action Plan for Education 2016-2019*, is how education "contributes to personal development as well as sustainable economic development, innovation, identifying and addressing societal challenges, social cohesion, civic engagement and vibrant cultural activities" (DES, 2018a, p. 2). As part of strengthening engagement, a Network of Regional Skills Fora (DES) was created, providing an opportunity for employers and the education and training system to identify emerging skills needs of their regions in a more structured engagement framework (OECD/EC, 2017).

**New Zealand**, in its *Tertiary Education Strategy 2014-2019*, sets out the Government's long-term strategic plans for the entire tertiary sector, with a view to social, environmental, and economic outcomes. There are six priorities: delivering skills for industry, getting at-risk young people into a career, boosting the achievement of Māori and Pasifika, improving adult literacy and numeracy, strengthening research-based institutions, and growing international linkages. The Performance Based Research Fund (PBRF), similar to the REF in the UK, assesses research impact on the research environment within and outside of academia as well as community or end-user impact (Tertiary Education Commission, 2018, p. 52). The external research income component is a proxy measure of engagement and relevance to industry for the research undertaken at universities and some polytechnics. There are several targeted investment funds aimed at addressing social matters and the economy, such as Maori and Pasifika Trades Training, the Centres of Asia-Pacific Excellence, and the Entrepreneurial Universities competitive fund.

**The Netherlands** has a binary tertiary system, comprised of universities and universities of applied sciences, the latter offering professional or vocational oriented education. Civic and regional engagement is considered part of the valorisation agenda. The *Strategic Agenda for Higher Education and Research, 2015-2025*, identifies knowledge valorisation – the creation of economic and social value from knowledge and social benefit – as a key priority. The ambition is that by 2025, research universities and universities of applied sciences will form part of valuable and sustainable "ecosystems" alongside the secondary education sector, secondary vocational education, research institutes, government departments, local and regional authorities, companies, hospitals, community centres and sports clubs (Ministry of Education, Culture and Science, 2015, p. 95). Overall performance is monitored through a process of Performance Agreements (2013-2016), now called Quality Agreements (2019-2024); funding can be withheld if the plans do not meet the criteria



(Ministry of Education, Culture and Science, 2018). Significantly, the ministry with responsibility for higher education and city development has recently announced funding for "city deals" specifically to support collaboration between universities and municipalities (Leiden – Delft - Erasmus).

**Norway** is a sparsely populated country with a significant rural population, and so regional and local policy is an important issue. Universities and colleges are mandated to establish Councils for Co-operation with Working Life, and to be actively involved in developing and strengthening regional and local skills strategies and competence planning. Regulatory, funding, accountability and organisational policy levers aim to enhance labour market relevance and outcomes. Performance agreements, which build upon existing high levels of trust across society, are a way of enhancing quality, co-operation and diversity (Elken, Frølich and Reymert, 2016). The *Norwegian Qualification Framework for Lifelong Learning (NKR)* supports labour market relevance by facilitating transition between all levels of education and training, and demonstrating the skills graduates have obtained upon the successful completion of their programme (OECD, 2017, p. 135-169).

In summary, the key messages emerging from these international examples are:

- Leadership capacity is required across all partners with a view to creating a shared vision for the future;
- Different parts of the education system having the capacity to collaborate through neutral regional brokers as well as through joint projects and sharing facilities;
- The formation of clusters of education and research institutions to generate critical mass and the nurturing of social ties with other parts of the public sector and with business and the community that can help maximise the use of available resources;
- While research institutions, laboratories, and higher education institutions have knowledge generative capacity this is matched by building absorptive capacity in users.

A recurring theme is the clear belief in the contribution investment in research linked to innovation, alongside education and training, can make to the material wellbeing of people, and that economic empowerment can lead to greater personal empowerment and reduced disadvantage. The strategies however will be of limited, or no, value



unless they can reach the people who are most in need of them. And to do that will require not just research and innovation, and education and training strategies, but a comprehensive and well-co-ordinated set of strategies across a range of public services areas such as health, security and housing linked to territorial development. The PCET system – spanning 6<sup>th</sup> form, further and higher education, work-based learning, and adult and community education – has a crucially important role to play in providing a diverse body of students' learning opportunities, and the research firepower to underpin such strategies, and to reach out and into some of the most economically deprived communities of Wales.

# The UK Context

Until devolution, the development of individual universities in Wales and the system at large was shaped by UK policy in higher education and related domains such as research and innovation, health and territorial governance. Devolution has applied in varying degrees to some of these areas but, as in most countries, the current and future prospects for civic engagement are shaped by the inherited pattern of institutions. In Wales, the way the higher education system has or has not been steered by the UK Government to ensure public benefit also has an impact. It is therefore important to situate civic engagement in Wales in a UK context – past, present and future. In this regard we have to acknowledge the dominance of the English experience in shaping the policies and practice of the UK and the public discourse around the purpose of higher education and the traditional knowledge supply driven model (Brink, 2018). This narrative provides an important context for current discussion in Wales. In this regard it is important to distinguish between the specific case of civic universities and university engagement with civil society more generally.

## The Civic University and Civic Engagement

The English concept of the civic university has its roots in institutions that grew up in the latter half of the 19<sup>th</sup> century, with financial support from business and the local community to underpin the industrial development of the cities of the midlands and northern England such as Manchester, Newcastle, Sheffield and Birmingham. In Wales, local campaigns led to the establishment of the University of Wales in 1893



through the union of institutions in Aberystwyth, Bangor and Cardiff. These preuniversity institutions not only had direct links to the local economy through research and the technical education of the adult workforce but also contributed to the health and wellbeing of that workforce and to the vitality of local civil society, for example through the arts and public debate.

During the early part of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, various commentators refer to the decline of the civic university ideal. As Scott notes "since the 1920's, and with irresistible force from the 1940's onwards, higher education in the UK has been subject to a process that can only be described as one of creeping nationalisation" (Scott, 2014, p.220-221). Many factors conspired to lead the early civic universities to turn their backs on their places. These included: the growing importance of educating an increasing national professional class; the professionalisation of the academic career which privileged fundamental research in evermore specialised fields and theory over practice; increasing state funding, initially via the University Grants Committee; the promotion of an Oxbridge ideal of the university with its anti-urban/anti technological bias; and finally, the diminution of provincial civil society as London re-asserted its dominance in UK polity (Vallance, 2016, p. 20).

A key feature of the expansion of English higher education has been the lack of any central planning, and territorially blind formula funding mechanisms. The formula funding left little opportunity for government to steer the system, and correspondingly led to a strong hierarchy of institutions focusing on London and the South East of England. Key developments included:

- The incorporation of local authority-controlled polytechnics (which had played a strong place-based role) into the national higher education system;
- The introduction of the Research Assessment Exercise which privileged the generation of new knowledge over its application and used academic judgement to strengthen the established hierarchy of universities and which (incidentally) led to the concentration of research funding into London and the South East of England;
- The establishment of new universities in many smaller communities primarily to meet a target of 50% participation in higher education by 18-21-year olds but to the neglect of adult education; and
- Creating social class and non-geographical targets for widening participation, focused on younger age groups.



Civic engagement thus came to be seen as a third and by definition inferior and optional mission. While it was important for newer universities, they had less resource to invest in their places than the established universities. A small stream of funding through the Higher Education Innovation Fund (HEIF) was established but it has been formulaic, based on past income generation not necessarily related to local needs. Attempts to establish a contracting system within HEIF were abandoned as too interventionist. Nevertheless, HEIF has encouraged a wider definition of engagement that goes beyond collaboration with business to embrace working with the community and voluntary and creative sectors. There is a vibrant network of individuals (academics and professional support staff) supported by the National Co-ordinating Centre for Public Engagement formerly funded by HEFCE but now supported by Research England. This entirely voluntary network plays a key role in sharing experience of across the sector.

## **Civic Engagement, Devolution, Industrial Policy and Austerity**

Over the past ten years, and in response to the depth and prolonged nature of the Great Recession, there have been calls for a re-invention of the civic university albeit now operating in a globalised economy. This led, in part, to the creation of an independent Commission on the Civic University (UPP Foundation , 2018). Such calls are underpinned by an increasing body of academic work (e.g. Goddard, 2009; Goddard, Hazelkorn, Kempton and Vallance 2017; Grau et al., 2017). The demands for re-invention cannot be separated from a discourse around devolution in England, arguments for more place sensitive industrial policy, and the local consequences of austerity in the public finances. Indeed, developments outside of higher education have had implications for the sector, especially when put into the context of the increasing marketisation and globalisation of English higher education. Much of this discourse is applicable to Wales.

The establishment of ten Regional Development Agencies (RDAs) in England in 2002, with a single pot of funding, weighted by regional needs and drawn from many departments of state, was a key devolution step within England. The RDAs encouraged a step change in civic engagement by English universities in their regions, and indirectly steered the system, by encouraging the formation of regional associations or clusters of universities from across the institutional hierarchy working together in the field of economic development and widening participation in higher education through national programmes like *Aim Higher* (Goddard & Vallance, 2013).



Although further education was and is funded, managed and regulated separately from universities, the regional associations encouraged dialogue between the two sectors. The RDAs were able to match European Structural Funds and support major transformational projects such as Science Cities linked to the established redbrick universities in Manchester, Birmingham and Newcastle. In particular, RDAs were able to operate in a multi-level governance structure to provide a territorial dimension to sectoral industrial policies.

The abolition of RDAs in 2010 (and the Welsh Development Agency in 2006) and their replacement (in England) by 39 business-led Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) has driven devolution to a very local, and in some places sub-optimal level in terms of industrial clusters and university clusters, and the functioning of local labour markets. The LEPs sit alongside local authorities, which now have little capacity in non-statutory areas, most notably economic development. This localism has been offset in some areas by the bottom-up creation of Combined Authorities with directly elected mayors and the possibility of negotiating City Deals with central government that give the authority devolved powers in specific fields. There are parallels in Wales with city region deals in Cardiff and Swansea. Universities have been represented on LEP boards and involved in shaping City Deals in combined authorities and have contributed to developing Local Industrial Strategies with LEPs. Across England there are many examples of universities taking on functions and services previously performed by cash-strapped local authorities (for example, museums and galleries).

The UK Government recently introduced a national industrial strategy with "place" as one of the five founding principles; there are also four grand research and innovation challenges, which implicitly have a place dimension: AI & the data economy; the future of mobility; clean growth; and the ageing society. A *Strength in Places Fund* (UKRI) to which universities in partnership with business, public bodies and the community and voluntary sector can bid, is driven by a recognition of the need to bridge the north-south business innovation divide and tackle the needs and opportunities in "left behind" communities through inclusive growth strategies as advocated in the independent Industrial Strategy Commission (2017).

In relation to inclusive growth, universities have played an important role. In its evidence gathering activities, the Civic University Commission has found an extensive range of activities undertaken by universities to support disadvantaged communities within cities and wider regions, including rural areas. But the Commission has observed that much of this activity is ad hoc, undertaken by individual academics below the radar of institutional managers, which leaves them vulnerable to the vagaries of academic and personal circumstances. While most universities have engagement strategies, few have integrated engagement and place-based strategies developed



**Canolfan Polisi Cyhoeddus Cymru** 

with quadruple helix partners and internal matrix organisational frameworks integrating teaching, research and engagement.

## **Civic Engagement and the Higher Education**

### Market

Much of what is called "public good" activity in universities was enabled by the injection into the system of additional funds from student fees. At a time of public spending cuts elsewhere, universities have been able to invest in activities for the public benefit. Many universities have become leading actors in the economic, social and cultural development of their communities and this is recognised by local people. According to a YOUGOV opinion survey sponsored by the Civic University Commission in ten British Cities, 58% of citizens were on average "proud" of their universities but this figure differed significantly by social group and between cities, with those less civically involved holding the universities in less esteem (UPP Foundation, 2018, p. 4).

The focus of the Higher Education and Research Act 2017 on strengthening the higher education market place, together with the removal of the cap on home student numbers, may inadvertently undermine the capacity of institutions to contribute to the local public good. Many institutions have grown home and overseas student numbers rapidly and invested heavily in their campuses through debt-based financing. However, a combination of factors, including on-going underlying weaknesses in the UK economy, may curtail further growth. A 2018 survey of opinion amongst Vice Chancellors regards institutional failures or closures, greater stratification and specialisation of provision as "quite possible", acknowledging that changing fortunes are likely to result in the "strong getting stronger while the very weak are under considerable threat." Critically, many of the universities in most difficulty from falling numbers and mounting losses are located in "disadvantaged towns and cities where their closure would be politically and economically disastrous" (Boxall & Woodgates, 2018, p. 15).

Brexit is an additional pressure on non-metropolitan places across the UK (Exiting the European Union Committee, 2018). Research suggests that higher education was the "predominant factor dividing the nation", along with the degree of economic disadvantage, with respect to how people voted during the Brexit referendum, particularly in England and Wales (Zhang, 2018, p. 313; Goodwin & Heath, 2016). This suggests that in parts of the UK those who feel left behind by globalisation do not recognise the civic contribution of universities. This could have significant implications for vulnerable universities in places where they are the key anchor institution (Goddard, Coombes, Kempton, & Vallance, 2014).

These developments present a challenge to the civic engagement agenda, especially in the absence of tools to steer the system in the public interest. Since the dissolution of HEFCE, oversight of the English sector is split between the student competition regulatory authority, the Office for Students (OFS), and UK Research and Innovation (UKRI). This is recognised at a high level in the MOU between OFS and UKRI which notes the importance of "different funding and regulatory systems...to support and enhance the immense value universities in England generate for individuals, for cities and regions, and for our economy and society nationally and globally" (OfS/UKRI, 2018). This suggests a potential opportunity for universities to use the teaching and student outcomes metrics within the TEF (e.g. in relation to work-based learning, internships, student volunteering and graduate outcomes) as a driver for civic engagement. Indeed, the OfS has recently announced call for bids from universities and colleges in a region to collaborate in helping graduates work locally (OfS, 2018). Likewise, REF Impact funding and the proposed Knowledge Exchange Framework (KEF) both have an implicit place-based dimension.

# The Welsh Context

Civic engagement in Wales has to be seen within the context of the challenges facing Wales as a nation within the UK as well as the place of Welsh universities in the UK higher education system. The Welsh *Future Trends Report 2017* covers population; health; economy & infrastructure; climate change; land use and natural resources and society and culture. It notes that:

for many reasons, governments, both local and national, have traditionally tended to focus on individual policy areas when seeking to deliver benefits to the population ... [The future task] ... will only be successful if it is collectively owned and managed by all the organisations needing to build a better understanding of the factors that should influence their decision making. Welsh Government will now work with our colleagues across the wider public sector, with academia and with other interested stakeholders to develop a resource that we can all make regular, active and effective use of (Welsh Government, 2017, p. 3). The report highlights the importance of the *Well-being of Future Generations Act* and the UN *Sustainable Development Goals* and name-checks HEFCW (in the process of being replaced by the Tertiary Education and Research Commission for Wales). However, apart from the mention of "academia" (presumably individual scholars), there is no specific reference to the potential of Welsh education institutions being mobilised individually and collectively to address these challenges. Underpinning many of these issues is that of human capital – for example the fact that the proportion of the Welsh population with qualifications at all levels is below the UK average and that a third of graduates from Welsh universities leave Wales for employment after graduation. This failure to recognise the contribution that universities could make can partly be attributed to the context within which the Welsh higher education system has evolved and is currently funded and regulated.

## **Welsh Higher Education Policy**

Welsh higher education has been characterised from its earliest days by a commitment to the people of Wales. Today's universities are the inheritors of a tradition that was built on public subscription and which prized the provision of lifelong learning opportunities for local people. Yet that mission has become increasingly clouded as we have entered the 21<sup>st</sup> century. Closures and contractions of lifelong learning departments have been emblematic of a shift in emphasis away from the original mission of civic universities in Wales, just as challenges from new forms of work come into play. This, and other grand challenges demand a better connection between the social and economic spheres. In contrast to the diminishing role of universities in their communities in England, the Welsh Government has begun to sow the seeds for a renaissance.

*Towards 2030: A Framework for Building a World-Class Post-Compulsory Education System* for Wales noted weak linkages between universities and society, and across the PCET system. In addition to strongly recommending the formation of a single governance framework (e.g. TERCW), capable of ensuring greater education and learner pathways, it recommended that "civic engagement should be embedded as a core mission, and become an institution wide-commitment for all post-compulsory institutions (Hazelkorn, 2016c, p. 55).

The HEFCW report *Innovation Nation: On Common Ground* has showcased a range of civic engagement case studies loosely grouped under the following headings:

• Leading places



- Working with schools
- Active citizenship
- Social enterprise and innovation

The report notes a profusion of terms commonly used to describe interaction between universities and external audiences (HEFCW, 2018b). Many of these terms reflect financial and performance metrics, and institutional governance and management structures. They range from "civic mission" to being "good corporate citizens", from "innovation" to "impact", and "knowledge transfer" to "community engagement". These differences are significant because in practice they are not necessarily synonyms. Achieving "impact" is usually linked to research and requirements under the REF; institution-level corporate citizenship is viewed as interchangeable with academic-level community engagement.

Funding drivers are central to establishing holistic and integrated civic engagement. In this respect the UK practice dominates, notwithstanding the opportunities in Wales to deviate from this. In the case of research all Welsh universities participate in the Research Excellence Framework (REF) that determines total baseline (QR) funding from the UK Government. The Welsh Government already uses its discretionary powers over the allocation mechanism to individual institutions, which allows it to pursue Wales-specific priorities, albeit within the competitive context of wider UK and international trends in higher education. It could do similarly with respect to civic mission and assign greater weight to those aspects of REF such as "impact" and "research environment" that reflect could civic engagement.

In terms of teaching and learning, universities are required to submit a "fee and access plan" to HEFCW, with institutions' inclusion within the UK student loan system dependent upon approval. Plans must set out an institution's objectives for the "promotion of higher education". This includes:

- More effective engagement with private, public or voluntary bodies and communities in Wales;
- Improving the quality of learning and teaching, with reference to the quality of the student experience;
- Strengthening the employability of Welsh graduates;
- Promoting Welsh higher education more effectively internationally;



- Delivering sustainable higher education; and
- Raising awareness of the value of higher education to potential students.

These provisions incorporate many activities that could contribute to the civic mission but the student experience and learning outcomes remaining preeminent.

Welsh universities are consciously and strategically steered with reference to the rest of the UK, as well as international drivers. They cannot ignore either the TEF – which is not compulsory in Wales – or the REF, which are major points of comparison in the competitive higher education marketplace, nationally and internationally. Recognition of this circumstance has hitherto constrained the transformative potential of any Welsh civic mission strategy such as a dedicated fund for this purpose. The *Review of Government Funded Research and Innovation in Wales* had already observed that phasing out of knowledge exchange funding had potentially disadvantaged Welsh universities vis-a-vis England (Reid, 2018).

In England, Higher Education Innovation Funding (HEIF) is awarded annually to higher education institutions on a formula basis. A total of £210m has been allocated for 2018-2019, comprising £163m from the science and research budget and £47m from the Office for Students' teaching budget. This can be worth up to some £4m annually for an institution, given good performance on metrics in the *Higher Education – Business and Community Interaction Survey* (HE-BCI) and positive assessment of the required institutional knowledge exchange strategy (HESA). Since 2017-2018, the HEIF budget has included a recurrent allocation (currently £50m) for specific contributions to the Industrial Strategy, for which, institutions are required to develop additional plans. It is instructive to view the Welsh Government's recent release of £1.8m civic mission funding, worth a maximum of £280,000 for the highest-paid Welsh university, in light of these figures (HEFCW, 2018a).

The Review of Higher Education Funding and Student Finance Arrangements in Wales (Diamond, 2018), in addition to the above Reid review, raised the prospect of reintroducing dedicated innovation and engagement funding, with Reid proposing the extension of this fund to include further as well as higher education institutions. Reid also recommended that while funding "should include the vital civic mission of universities", it should "be distributed to universities on the basis of performance metrics, to incentivise universities to attract the highest levels of external income through collaborations with businesses and other partners" (Reid, 2018, p. 5). This inevitably will reward the institutions able to attract funding from large companies with deep pockets rather than SMEs and the community and voluntary sectors where the needs for support are greatest.



The monitoring structure proposed in *Maximising the Contribution of the Post-Compulsory Education and Training System to the Achievement of Welsh National Goals* similarly distinguishes between the economic impact of universities from the broader innovation and research goal (Weingarten, 2018). It does not however allow for a distinct domain for other societal impacts. In this respect, the aforementioned Reid report and the Higher Education and Business Interaction Survey (which has underpinned HEIF allocation) focus on metrics which largely, although not exclusively, give greatest weight to past income-generating activities rather than future needs.

In contrast, the *Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015* provides opportunities to develop a more holistic forward-looking framework for the evaluation of civic mission activity. The Act has introduced an innovative approach to policy implementation, in that it explicitly requires each public body to work towards delivery of all seven of its well-being goals. As one of the forty-four bodies subject to the Act, HEFCW is required to abide by its terms, salient features of which are discussed below. Despite universities not being directly bound by it, all the above-mentioned reviews have highlighted the importance of greater engagement between universities, and across the PCET sector more broadly, as being indispensable to the future of Wales.

The comprehensive and mutually reinforcing nature of the well-being goals, combined with the *Innovation Wales* (Welsh Government, 2013) and *Science for Wales* (Welsh Government, 2012) strategies, have considerable potential to make a direct impact on universities. Although *Innovation Wales* recognises that "innovation does not only exist in the fields of science and technology", *Science for Wales* privileges a relatively narrow understanding of the innovation milieu that overlooks the essential role of the arts and humanities in addressing "grand challenges". The strategic approach also shows a lack of spatial granularity at a local level, failing to distinguish the needs and opportunities in different regions and, in any comprehensive sense, the full potential of their respective universities.

### **Civic Engagement in Place**

In considering what might constitute an appropriate university civic mission, a geographical perspective is of critical importance. The local and regional contexts within which universities operate vary considerably, shaping the demographics of the available student pool, the economic and social prospects of graduates, and the wider local priorities to which civic engagement activities might be addressed. And while higher and further education capacity in some local authority areas is considerable, in others there is limited (or no) direct presence. If the challenges and opportunities in

different parts of Wales are very different, then so too are the most appropriate roles for the universities in those places.

While local context is a crucial consideration in the development of civic mission strategies, the importance of inter-regional and cross-border relationships cannot be overlooked. We note, for example, that although Wales is currently a net importer of students, and captures a share of graduates from elsewhere in the UK into the Welsh labour market, it remains a net exporter of graduates. Where universities' relative orientation to local, UK and international student markets varies according to institutional type, research relationships span borders due both to institutional type and geographical location. Key cross-border relationships include GW4, a joint venture focused on collaborative research, infrastructure and workforce development with universities in the West of England, and the Mersey Dee Alliance, a government-university partnership directed at delivering a strategic approach to social, economic and environmental issues.

Civic mission activities also involve governance arrangements which include twentytwo local authorities, as well as two City Deal-supported city regions encompassing fourteen of those authorities. As the English experience, which followed the replacement of the RDAs with LEPs shows, overly fractured agenda setting and delivery arrangements can be sub-optimal. Universities' engagement in regional collaborations therefore need to reflect the operation of local labour markets and contribute to the evolution of regional innovation systems

In 2016, the Future Generations Commissioner issued a call for the Capital Region City Deals to put "mechanisms in place to ensure that community voice is a key driver of the developments that will come about through this programme" (Howe, 2016). It is precisely this type of role – combining, for example, the sector's political neutrality with academics' community contacts, interdisciplinary working practices and research capacity – that universities can readily fulfil. Yet, while benefiting from higher education participation at Board level, it is unclear whether universities' full potential in the city region structures for Cardiff and Swansea is being tapped. A further question highlighted by the City Deal arrangements in south Wales – but one that has a more general salience for higher education providers – is how improved collaboration can be encouraged between institutions where a competitive mind-set might otherwise prevail.

The territorial dimension to the *Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015* constitutes a particularly important part of the governance landscape that could be relevant to civic engagement by universities. The Act includes a statutory requirement for establishment of Public Services Boards (PSBs) in each local authority area to



contribute to the delivery of its seven well-being goals. PSBs are required to undertake an assessment of well-being in their area, and to prepare a local well-being plan based on their findings. The plan must contain local well-being objectives in line with the seven national well-being goals, and steps for meeting them. Non-statutory participants or other partners may offer, but cannot be required, to deliver objectives. Progress reporting is required annually.

It is a notable omission that HEFCW's Well-being Statement contains no analysis of the spatial context for, or differences in offer between, Wales' eight universities. Although HEFCW has no direct control over individual institutions' activities, and the sector itself is not directly implicated in the Act, an overview of the sector through the lens of the Act could provide a useful framework for considering its civic mission contribution. This accords with other recommendations that universities support the notion of the well-being goals as "guiding principles" (but not "specific objectives") for investment (Reid, 2018). One option that could potentially achieve this balance is to make innovation and engagement funding contingent upon acceptance of a submitted institutional strategy – as is the case for England's HEIF – and for that strategy to make reference to national and regional priorities as laid out in the *Future Trends Report* and the local PSB's well-being plan.

HEFCW is clear on the degree of autonomy that Welsh universities, which are designated as "charities, private bodies and independent of government", hold in the allocation of the funding they receive:

It should be noted that institutions are not required to replicate HEFCW's approach to establishing allocations when making their own internal allocations. We expect that decisions on detailed resource allocations to departments and courses will be made strategically by institutions in the light of local circumstances and priorities and with due regard to the potential impact of allocations in terms of their statutory responsibilities, including for equality and diversity, as well as other Welsh Government priorities (HEFCW, 2018, p. 13).

This is significant because it is not only what universities are asked to do but how they go about organising it that should be considered in any effort to create a truly civic university. Unless internal governance structures – from time allocation models to incentives and promotion criteria – serve to support its engagement activities, a civic mission will remain a secondary consideration to other, more pressing and better aligned goals. Indeed, as we have argued elsewhere, establishing a civic university can require deep-seated institutional change that embeds working with the outside world in the academic heartlands of teaching and research (Goddard, Hazelkorn, Kempton and Vallance, 2016).

# **Policy Recommendations**

The discussion above covers a wide range of issues. Current political developments, nationally and internationally, set the context for an examination of policy options. Balancing policy and governance requirements with respect to shaping system-level objectives and targets with Welsh national needs and ambitions of individual sectors and institutions are an additional factor.

How can the Welsh Government, acting with its universities and other stakeholders, including the wider PCET system, give meaningful expression to the civic engagement role so that it is mainstreamed into the mission?

What follows are six key, high-level, recommendations which draw on recommendations from recent policy reports and international experiences referenced above. The intention is to ensure a coherent, integrated approach that does not lead to the siloing of teaching and learning, research and innovation, and engagement and civic mission into three distinct and parallel sets of activities, competing for money, time, and status. Rather, the ambition is to encourage an embedded approach, whereby civic mission is part of the core role and responsibilities of universities, as institutional citizens of and for Wales.

#### Recommendation 1: Develop a strategic vision for the postcompulsory education and training system

Over recent years, a wide range of different reports and recommendations have been published about the post-compulsory education system, and Welsh society. This includes, inter alia: *Towards 2030: A framework for building a world-class post-compuslory education system for Wales (2016), Review of Government Funded Research and Innovation in Wales (2018), The Review of Higher Education Funding and Student Finance Arrangements in Wales (2018), and Maximising the Contribution of the Post-Compulsory Education and Training System to the Achievement of Welsh National Goals (2018). In addition, the <i>Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015* provides an important vision for the future of Wales.

While each report makes an important contribution to public policy, they do not equate to having a strategic vision and plan for the future of the Welsh post compulsory system. Such a plan is essential in order to bring about a holistic approach to the education and training, and research and innovation systems. Instead, there is



potential for policy confusion, with each report having distinctive and potentially conflicting recommendations when viewed from the perspective of civic engagement. Indeed, in the absence of a strategic view, neither the government nor the institutions can monitor their performance or contribution to Welsh society.

It is strongly recommended that the Welsh Government undertake a systematic review of the PCET system in Wales, which recognises the different roles and responsibilities of institutions within a diversified PCET education system, aligned with the objectives of Wales and its constituent sub-regions. The aim should be to produce an overarching vision and strategy for the system-as-a-whole which meets the needs of Welsh society going-forward.

# Recommendation 2: Use institutional compacts as a vehicle to promote civic engagement

All six of the countries discussed in this report employ a combination of negotiated institutional compacts and performance funding. The framework is usually bolstered by a strategic plan as mentioned above. In Ireland, for example, the government has produced a *Strategic Framework* with clear objectives which feed directly into a Strategic Dialogue process.

In Wales, the *Tertiary Education and Research Commission for Wales* (TERCW) will become the new governing agency for post-compulsory education and research. It will also become the vehicle for managing the performance management process as recommended by the report *Maximising the Contribution of the Post-Compulsory Education and Training System to the Achievement of Welsh National Goals* (2018), in line with the overall objectives of the *Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015* (Weingarten, 2018, p. 10-11). Civic engagement should be made a specific element of this performance management process. Of the six objectives set out in the Weingarten report, four have direct relevance for civic engagement– widening access, innovation and research, learning value added and promotion of Welsh language and culture. These could be employed as performance indicators for the wider higher education system.

Civic engagement would thus become one of the national objectives of the Welsh Government within a performance management system for higher education. As with the other national objectives, each institution would be invited in the first instance to set out in a draft compact how it proposes to address the issue of civic engagement, given its mission and strengths. A difficulty presented is what performance indicators



and performance targets can an institution propose and government deploy. Given the cross-cutting nature of civic engagement, it is likely that these will cross reference other aspects of proposed compacts, equity of access being an obvious one. Other indicators could include: the nature and extent of engagement with the business and cultural sectors in their region; collaboration with other institutions and other levels of the education and training system; the programmes they develop and provide relating to ethics, environmental justice and sustainable development.

On an annual basis the universities would report on their performance to the TERCW, who would in turn produce an annual report to government on the performance of the sector. Drawing on performance under the headings referred to above, the TERCW would be in a position to advise the Government on the strength and scope of civic engagement. A strong focus on achieving and measuring outcomes should be adopted, with funding aligned with performance. There should be triennial self-evaluations and peer reviews along the lines of the OECD process referred to earlier.

# Recommendation 3: Develop regional clusters of institutions as key enablers of regional development

Wales has a dispersed population outside of the main metropolitan area of Cardiff. Regional diversity has created social and economic disparities, shaped by demographics and labour market opportunities. An important aspect of civic engagement, and a key determinant of success, is the extent to which the universities collaborate with each other, with other elements of the education system, in particular across the PCET system, and with other stakeholders. Finland, Norway and Ireland have each focused considerable policy attention on the role of education as an anchor institution in each region, collaborating with other key stakeholders.

Public Services Boards (PSBs) are a statutory requirement of the *Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.* Rather than creating a new structure, this recommendation urges building on what already exists. Using the PSBs as the underpinning platform, over-arching collaborative education and research hubs, centred around the universities, could be created. These would have critical mass, especially in regions which lack the capacity to attract and retain talent, and act as magnets to mobile business and capital.

The regional clusters with a clearly identified co-ordinating hub would bring together sub-regional constituent organisations, including PSBs, with the capacity to ensure greater macro-level planning and strategic development. All universities, and PCET



institutions, should be mandated to work collaboratively, and together, to actively participate in these hubs with clear objectives with respect to regional development and providing the skills and competences required to make an impact on sustaining social and cultural life across Wales.

# Recommendation 4: Strengthen links within the PCET system and across the education system as a whole

Widening access and successful participation should be an intrinsic component of an engaged regional agenda supported by PCET institutions working collaboratively. New Zealand advocated the *Learning for Life* policy agenda which led to the "removal of false or outdated distinctions between 'education' and 'training', or between 'academic' and 'vocational' learning" (New Zealand Producitivty Commission, 2017, p. 16.)

Building on responsibilities and capacity of the new TERCW to bring the whole PCET system together, the objective would be to create a seamless post-secondary system, embracing the vocational and higher education, overseen by a common governance framework. Those developments accord with the general shift to re-skilling and lifelong learning and the necessity for mapping learning and career pathways through the broader education continuum. This would ensure an integrated, coherent set of educational programmes and access points for any learner and enable students of all ages and ability to participate actively and successfully, regardless of personal circumstance.

# Recommendation 5: Use civic engagement as an instrument to promote equity of access to higher education

A special opportunity and challenge for universities, in terms of civic engagement, arises in respect of creating the conditions to enhance equity of access. A civic engagement approach can support access to, and participation in, higher education by young people from economically disadvantaged backgrounds, from adults who never had the opportunity to pursue higher education programmes, and from people, young and not so young, of all abilities.

Equity of access is an international policy objective evident in all the countries reviewed for this report. At European level, the Bologna Process emphasises the objective of



strengthening the drive for social inclusion and ensuring that higher education is more representative of the whole of society – including men and women, urban and rural dwellers, and members of all socio-economic groupings. Equity of access has profound personal, social and economic impacts.

Engagement between universities and colleges with families and schools, aimed at strengthening relationships and communication and presenting the institutions as welcoming to people of all backgrounds, is key to developing student, parent and community aspiration and achievement. This will require universities to work with ALL schools, including primary and secondary, in the area served by each co-ordinating hub. Such engagement would help break down misconceptions about, and in-built prejudice and hostility towards, colleges and universities and to present them as friendly and open places where there is room for people from all backgrounds.

Teachers are central to the success of all students, but especially those who come from families and communities who suffer from socio-economic disadvantage. Initial teacher education programmes should ensure that their students are educated to appreciate the unique role of the teacher as professional in providing for the holistic development of students. They should also ensure that these students appreciate the challenges their own students experience daily in accessing education and in particular the challenges students from underrepresented groups have to overcome to attend higher education - and the challenges they themselves present to the education and training system. These objectives should also be clearly articulated as outcomes of continuing professional development (CPD) programmes. Guidance counsellors, mentoring, especially by successful graduates from similar backgrounds and programmes focused on parents, especially mothers, are among the suite of initiatives employed in other jurisdictions.

Universities should be required to give practical expression to the concept of lifelong learning. They should enhance programmes for equity of access to, and participation in, higher education with a special focus on adults who need to acquire skills relevant to evolving job markets and contribute to civil society throughout the life. But universities cannot do this on their own. They will need close co-operation with all levels of the education system as well as with broader public services, most obviously health, housing and social care, and those responsible for territorial development.

#### **Recommendation 6: Provide "seed" funding**

A central thesis in this paper is that civic engagement should be mainstreamed into the activities of HEIs and should be a core element informing their mission. For the civic university ideal the issue of funding should be irrelevant, other than through a performance management process outlined earlier. However, while some elements of civic engagement are well embedded in higher education, others are not and civic mission as an objective of higher education is still a relatively recent development. Accordingly, it needs specific support in order to encourage take-up and to identify and disseminate best practice, including establishing processes for institutional change.

This could be achieved through the creation of a special fund for a limited period of time which could pilot some of the previous recommendations, most notably develop the case for a single programme of action contributed to by various departments of the Welsh Government that could facilitate mainstreaming in the long run and underpin collaborative partnerships. The institutions would be invited to put forward costed proposals. Decisions about funding would give the Welsh Government the opportunity to steer the system. Conditions of funding should be that: proposals must be highly collaborative with other institutions and relevant stakeholders; institutions must participate actively in a regional cluster; and institutions must have plans to develop their management structures to incentivise and deliver civic engagement. In this way best practice is shared and collaboration can become habit forming.

## Conclusion

The global and national landscape in which universities operate is changing dramatically. A combination of demographic, economic and labour market changes, globalisation and internationalisation have changed education provision, providers and students, and the relationship of higher education to the state and society. One of the biggest transformations is the extent to which the towns and cities in which our colleges and universities are located are themselves globally connected to other parts of the world through trade, tourism and technology. Education has played a significant role in this connecting process, and will continue to do so.

As a critical component of social, economic and cultural systems, our universities have multi-dimensional and different roles, impacting in varying degrees on their policies



and practice of civic engagement. They provide educational programmes thereby enhancing the social capital and skills of citizens; undertake research and discovery thereby contributing to new ideas and innovation; and contribute to wider policy concerns such as the vibrancy of our democratic structures, the vitality of the arts and creative industries, business innovation, social equity and public health, all of which are relevant to city and regional development in the round.

## References

- Algan, Y., Guriev, S., Papaioannou, E., & Passari, E. (2017). The European Trust Crisis and the Rise of Populism The European Trust Crisis and the Rise of Populism Yann Algan. *Brookings Papers on Economy Activity, Fall.* Retrieved from https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/algantextfa17bpea.pdf
- Benneworth, P., & Zeeman, N. (2018). Civic and regional engagement and accountability. In E. Hazelkorn, H. Coates, & A. C. Mccormick (Eds.), *Research Handbook on Quality, Performance and Accountability* (pp. 548–559). Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing. Retrieved from https://research.utwente.nl/en/publications/civic-and-regionalengagement-and-accountability
- Boland, T., & Hazelkorn, E. (2018, February 7). Public trust and accountability: a time of special challenge. *Wonkhe*. Retrieved from https://wonkhe.com/blogs/public-trust-and-accountability-a-time-of-special-challenge/
- Boxall, M., & Woodgates, P. (2018). *Forecasts of Storms. University Heads' Views on the OUtlook for UK Higher Eduication*. London. Retrieved from https://www.paconsulting.com/globalassets/downloads/higher-education-report-2017.pdf
- Brink, C. (2018). *The Soul of the University. Excellence is Not Enough*. Bristol: Bristol University Press.
- Brown, P., Lauder, H., & Ashton, D. (2011). *The Global Auction*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Calderon, A. (2018). The geopolitics of higher education: pursuing success in an uncertain global environment. In B. Cantwell, H. Coates, & R. King (Eds.), *Handbook on the Politics of Higher Education* (pp. 187–208). Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Calhoun, C. (2006). The University and the Public Good. *Thesis Eleven*, *84*(7), 7–43. Retrieved from http://www.nyu.edu/ipk/calhoun/files/calhounTheUniversityAndThePublicGood.pdf
- Carayannis, E. G., Barth, T. D., Campbell, D. F. J., Leydesdorff, L., Simona Cavallini, Leydesdorff, L., ... Desarrollo, B. I. De. (2012). Using the Quadruple Helix Approach to Accelerate the Transfer of Research and Innovation Results to Regional Growth. *Annual Review of Information Science and Technology*, *CLXXXV*(738), 739–755. https://doi.org/10.2863/408040
- Carayannis, E. G., & Campbell, D. F. J. (2012). Mode 3 Knowledge Production in Quadruple Helix Innovation Systems. Twenty-fi rst-Century Democracy, Innovation, and Entrepreneurship for Development. *SpringerBriefs in Business*, 7, 64. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-2062-0
- Crawford, C., Dearden, L., Micklewright, J., & Vignoles, A. (2016). Family Background and University Success: Differences in Higher Education Access and Outcomes in England,

176. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199689132.001.0001

- Department of Education and Skills. (2018). *Key System Objectives for the Higher Education System 2018 - 2020*. Dublin, Ireland. Retrieved from https://www.education.ie/en/Publications/Education-Reports/higher-education-systemperformance-framework-2018-2020.pdf
- Diamond, I. (2018). *The Review of Higher Education Funding and Student Finance Arrangements in Wales. Final Report*. Cardiff. Retrieved from https://beta.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-02/higher-education-fundingfinal-report-en.pdf
- Dill, D. D. (1998). Evaluating the `Evaluative State': Implications for research in higher education. *European Journal of Education*, *33*(361–377).
- Elken, M., Frølich, N., & Reymert, I. (2016). *Steering approaches in higher education. Comparing Norway, Sweden, Finland, the Netherlands and UK (England)* (No. Report 2016:35). Oslo, Norway. Retrieved from https://brage.bibsys.no/xmlui/bitstream/handle/11250/2432050/NIFUreport2016-35.pdf?sequence=1
- Else, H. (2018). Radical open-access plan could spell end to journal subscriptions. *Nature*, (September). https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-018-06178-7
- Exiting the European Union Committee. (2018). EU Exit Analysis: Cross Whitehall Briefing. *Department for Exiting the European Union Committee*. London: House of Commons. Retrieved from https://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons-committees/Exiting-the-European-Union/17-19/Cross-Whitehall-briefing/EU-Exit-Analysis-Cross-Whitehall-Briefing.pdf
- Förster, M., Nozal, A. L., & Thévenot, C. (2017). *Understanding the Socio-Economic Divide in Europe*. Paris. Retrieved from https://www.oecd.org/els/soc/cope-divide-europe-2017background-report.pdf
- Gallup. (2018). *Confidence in Higher Education Down Since 2015*. Retrieved from https://news.gallup.com/opinion/gallup/242441/confidence-higher-education-down-2015.aspx
- Goddard, J. (2009). *Reinventing the Civic University*. London. Retrieved from http://www.nesta.org.uk/library/documents/Reinventing-Civic-Uni-v2.pdf
- Goddard, J. (2011). Connecting Universities to Regional Growth: A Practical Guide. Seville. Retrieved from http://ec.europa.eu/regional\_policy/sources/docgener/presenta/universities2011/universi ties2011\_en.pdf
- Goddard, J., Coombes, M., Kempton, L., & Vallance, P. (2014). Universities as anchor institutions in cities in a turbulent funding environment: vulnerable institutions and vulnerable places in England. *Cambridge Journal of Regions, Economy and Society*, 7(2), 307–325. https://doi.org/10.1093/cjres/rsu004

- Goddard, J., Hazelkorn, E., Kempton, L., & Vallance, P. (2016). *The Civic University: The Policy and Leadership Challenges*. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing. https://doi.org/10.4337/9781784717728
- Goodwin, M. J., & Heath, O. (2016). The 2016 Referendum, Brexit and the Left Behind: An Aggregate-level Analysis of the Result. *Political Quarterly*, *87*(3), 323–332. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-923X.12285
- Hazelkorn, E. (2015). *Rankings and the Reshaping of Higher Education: The Battle for worldclass Excellence* (1st Editio). Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137446671
- Hazelkorn, E. (2016a). Contemporary debates part 1: theorising civic engagement. In J. Goddard, E. Hazelkorn, L. Kempton, & P. Vallance (Eds.), *The Civic University: The Policy and Leadership Challenges* (pp. 34–64). Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing. https://doi.org/10.4337/9781784717728
- Hazelkorn, E. (2016b). Contemporary debates part 2: initiatives, and governance and organisational structures. In J. Goddard, E. Hazelkorn, L. Kempton, & P. Vallance (Eds.), *The Civic University: The Policy and Leadership Challenges* (pp. 65–93). Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing. https://doi.org/10.4337/9781784717728
- Hazelkorn, E. (2016c). *Towards 2030: A framework for building a world-class postcompuslory education system for Wales.* Cardiff. Retrieved from http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/reports/review-of-the-oversightand-regulation-of-post-compulsory-education-and-training-in-wales/?lang=en
- HEFCE. (2010). *Public perceptions of the benefits of higher education*. Bristol. Retrieved from http://www.hefce.ac.uk/media/hefce/content/pubs/2010/rd2410/rd24\_10.pdf
- HEFCW. (2018a). *Enhancing civic mission and community engagement*. Cardiff. Retrieved from https://www.hefcw.ac.uk/documents/publications/circulars/circulars\_2018/W18 07HE Enhancing civic mission and community engagement.pdf
- HEFCW. (2018b). *Innovation Nation. On Common Ground*. Cardiff. Retrieved from http://www.hefcw.ac.uk/documents/publications/hefcw\_reports\_and\_statistics/INNOVAT ION NATION - ON COMMON GROUND - FINAL ENGLISH.pdf
- HEFCW. (2018c). HEFCW's Funding Allocations 2018/19. Circular W18/10HE. Retrieved from https://www.hefcw.ac.uk/documents/publications/circulars/circulars\_2018/W18%2010H
- E%20HEFCWs%20Funding%20Allocations%202018\_19.pdf Higher Education Strategy Group. (2010). *National Strategy for Higher Education to 2030*.
- Higher Education Strategy Group. (2010). *National Strategy for Higher Education to 2030*. Dublin: Department of Education and Skills. Retrieved from http://www.hea.ie/files/files/DES\_Higher\_Ed\_Main\_Report.pdf
- Howe, S. (2016). City Deal can be a better deal for Future Generations. Cardiff: Future Generations Commissioner for Wales. Retrieved from https://futuregenerations.wales/news/city-deal-can-be-better-deal-for-future-generations/

- Inglehart, R. F., & Norris, P. (2016). *Trump, Brexit, and the Rise of Populism: Economic Have-Nots and Cultural Backlash* (Faculty Research Working Paper Series). Cambridge, MA.
- Jongbloed, B., Kaiser, F., Vught, F. Van, & Westerheijden, F. (2018). European Higher Education Area: The Impact of Past and Future Policies. In A. Curaj, L. Deca, & R. Pricopie (Eds.), *European Higher Education Area: the Impact of Past and Future Policies* (pp. 671–687). Dordrecht: Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-77407-7
- Kempton, L., Goddard, J., Edwards, J., Hegyi, F. B., & Elena-pérez, S. (2013). Universities and Smart Specialisation (S3 Policy Brief Series No. 03/2013 No. S3 Policy Brief Series No. 03/2013). Seville. https://doi.org/10.2791/52851
- Leydesdorff, L., & Etzkowitz, H. (2001). The Transformation of University-Industry-Government Relations. *Electronic Journal of Sociology*, *5*, 338–344.
- McCormick, A. C., Kinzie, J., & Gonyea, R. M. (2013). Student engagement: bridging research and practice to improve the quality of under-graduate education. In Michael B. Paulsen (Ed.), *Higher Education: Handbook of Theory and Research* (pp. 47–92). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Ministry of Education and Culture. (2016). *Key projects reform. Finnish education*. Helsinki. Retrieved from https://minedu.fi/documents/1410845/4150027/Key+projects+reform+Finnish+education /ecf0ed3d-7249-4b31-abaf-189af35e197a/Key+projects+reform+Finnish+education.pdf
- Ministry of Education, C. and S. (2015). *The Value of Knowledge. Strategic agenda for Higher Education and Research 2015-2025.* The Hague. Retrieved from plato.stanford.edu/entries/knowledge\_value
- Ministry of Education, C. and S. (2018). *Investing in the quality of education Quality agreements 2019-2024*. The Hague. Retrieved from https://tinyurl.com/yd7fm873
- Myklebust, J. P. (2018, September 30). Half of the public does not trust research Survey. Retrieved from http://www.universityworldnews.com/article.php?story=20170930043900131
- New Zealand Producitivty Commission. (2017). *New models of tertiary education. Final report*. Wellington. Retrieved from https://www.productivity.govt.nz/inquiry-content/2683?stage=4
- OECD/EC. (2017). Supporting Entrepreneurship and Innovation in Higher Education in Ireland. Paris: OECD Publishing. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264270893-en
- OECD. (2007). *Higher Education and Regions: Globally Competitive, Locally Engaged. Higher Education* (Vol. 14). Paris: OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603100903450510
- OECD. (2014). Country Notes: Finland. In OECD (Ed.), Regional Outlook 2014. The regions



and cities where policies and people meet (pp. 236–237). Paris: OECD Publishing.

- OECD. (2017). *Higher Education in Norway: Labour Market Relevance and Outcomes*. Paris: OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264301757-en
- OfS (2018) Challenge Competition: Industrial Strategy and Skills support for local students and graduates. London: Office for Students. Retrieved from https://www.officeforstudents.org.uk/publications/ofs-challenge-competition-industrialstrategy-and-skills-support-for-local-students-and-graduates
- OfS/UKRI (2018) Collaboration Agreement. Retrieved from https://www.officeforstudents.org.uk/news-blog-and-events/press-and-media/ofs-andukri-sign-collaboration-agreement/
- Reid, G. (2018). *Review of Government Funded Research and Innovation in Wales*. Cardiff. Retrieved from https://gov.wales/docs/det/publications/reid-review-en.pdf
- Ries, T. E., Bersoff, D. M., Armstrong, C., Adkins, S., & Bruening, J. (2018). 2018 Edelman Trust Barometer Canada. New York. Retrieved from www.edelman.ca/trust
- Stoker, G. (2006). Public value management: A new narrative for networked governance? *American Review of Public Administration*, 36(1), 41–57. https://doi.org/10.1177/0275074005282583
- Tertiary Education Commission. (2018). *Performance-Based Research Fund. Guidelines for the 2018 Quality Evaluation assessment process*. Wellington: Tertiary Education Commission Te Amorangi Mātauranga Matua. Retrieved from http://www.tec.govt.nz/assets/Forms-templates-and-guides/PBRF-Assessmentguidelines-October-2017.pdf
- University Consortia. (2013). *University consortia. From ideas to innovations*. Helsinki. Retrieved from https://www.chydenius.fi/en/about-us-folder/university-consortia-in-finland
- UPP Foundation. (2018). Civic University Commission Progress Report. London.
- van Vught, F. A., & Ziegele, F. (2012). *Multidimensional Ranking. The Design and Development of U-Multirank.* (F. A. van Vught & F. Ziegele, Eds.). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Weingarten, H. P. (2018). *Maximising the Contribution of the Post- Compulsory Education and Training System to the Achievement of Welsh National Goals*. Cardiff: Welsh Government. Retrieved from https://gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/180522-reviewof-systems-for-monitoring-and-improving-the-effectiveness-of-post-compulsoryeducation-in-walesen.pdf%0Ahttps://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/highereducation/reviews/reviewof-systems-for-mon
- Welsh Government. (2012). Science for Wales A strategic agenda for science and innovation in Wales. Cardif. Retrieved from https://gov.wales/docs/det/publications/120306scienceen.pdf

- Welsh Government. (2013). *Innovation Wales*. Cardiff. Retrieved from http://wales.gov.uk/docs/det/publications/140313innovationstrategyen.pdf
- Welsh Government. (2017). *Future Trends Report*. Cardiff. Retrieved from https://gov.wales/docs/statistics/2017/170505-future-trends-report-2017-en.pdf
- Williams, K. (2016, September 16). Universities must reflect on gulf between campus and community exposed by Brexit. *Times Higher Education*. Retrieved from https://www.timeshighereducation.com/blog/universities-must-reflect-gulf-between-campus-and-community-exposed-brexit
- Zhang, A. (2018). New Findings on Key Factors Influencing the UK's Referendum on Leaving the EU. *World Development*, *102*, 304–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2017.07.017

## **Author Details**

**ELLEN HAZELKORN** is partner, BH Associates education consultants. She is Professor emeritus, Dublin Institute of Technology (Ireland), and Joint Editor, *Policy Reviews in Higher Education*. She is also International Co-Investigator, Centre for Global Higher Education (CGHE), London, and Research Fellow, Centre for International Higher Education, Boston College, USA. Ellen is a NAFSA Senior Fellow, NAFSA: Association of International Educators, 2018-2019. She received the EAIE (European Association of International Education) Tony Adams Award for Excellence in Research, 2018. She was policy advisor to, and board member of, the Higher Education Authority (Ireland), 2011-2017, and President of EAIR (European Society for Higher Education), 2013-2016. She was a vice president, Dublin Institute of Technology, 1995-2015. Ellen is author of *Towards 2030: A framework for building a world-class post-compuslory education system for Wales* (2016), and co-editor *The Civic University: The Policy and Leadership Challenges* (2016). Ellen is internationally recognised for her writings and analysis of university rankings on higher education and policy. www.bhassociates.eu

**JOHN GODDARD OBE** is Emeritus Professor at Newcastle University and Special Advisor to the Vice Chancellor and President. He founded and led the Centre for Urban and Regional Development Studies (CURDS) and was subsequently appointed Deputy Vice Chancellor with special responsibility for city and regional engagement. His work focusses on the links between higher education and territorial development policy and practise. He led the OECD programme on universities and city and regional development published as *Higher Education and Regions: Globally Competitive, Locally Engaged.* His publications include: *Re-Inventing the Civic University; The University and the City,* and *The Civic University: The Policy and Leadership Challenges.* He has drawn on this experience in advising the Vice Chancellor of the Cardiff University on its civic role. John is currently Vice Chair of the independent Civic University Commission headed by the former head of the UK home civil service Lord Kerslake. https://www.ncl.ac.uk/gps/staff/profile/johngoddard.html#background

**STEVIE UPTON** is a researcher and analyst specialising in university impact and engagement, and regional social and economic development. With over ten years' experience spanning academic, policy and practitioner roles, she has contributed to past reports for, among others, the European Commission, OECD, Global University Network for Innovation (GUNi) and Welsh Government. She has worked at the Universities of Cardiff, UK and Georgia, USA, where she published on a range of higher education matters. In 2015 she was invited to address the American UCEDD network on university-community engagement, and in 2016 provided support for the independent Goddard review of Cardiff University's innovation and engagement strategies.



**TOM BOLAND** is partner, BH Associates education consultants. He was Chief Executive, Higher Education Authority (2004-2016), and previously Director of Strategic Policy and Legal Adviser, Department of Education and Skills, Ireland. He is currently Chairman of the Board of Benefacts (which maintains a database of civil society organisations in Ireland); and a member of the Advisory Board of Asia Matters, Board of the National Youth Orchestra of Ireland, and the Denham Scholarship Foundation (provides scholarships for students from lower socio-economic groups to become barristers-at-law). He previously served on the boards of HEAnet (Chairman, 2004-2013); IMHE – the OECD's higher education programme (2005 -2016); the Fulbright Commission (2006-2009) and Science Foundation Ireland (2008-2012). He holds degrees in Civil Engineering (National University of Ireland, Galway) and Law (Honourable Society of King's Inns) and was called to the Bar of Ireland (1989). www.bhassociates.eu (Else, 2018)(Else, 2018)(Else, 2018)(Else, 2018)(Else, 2018)

## **Abbreviations**

- HEFCW Higher Education Funding Council for Wales
- HEI Higher Education Institution
- HEIF Higher Education Innovation Fund
- KEF Knowledge Exchange Framework
- LEP Local Enterprise Partnerships
- PCET Post-compulsory Education and Training
- **RDA** Regional Development Agencies
- **REF** Research Excellence Framework
- TEF Teaching Excellence and Student Outcomes Framework
- TERCW Tertiary Education and Research Commission for Wales
- UaS Universities of Applied Sciences
- UWTSD University of Wales Trinity Saint David

